How to Protect Your IPR: Recording Copyrights and Trademarks with U.S. Customs and Requesting Surveys of Patent Infringing Imports 
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Introduction

American industries have been losing much of their profitability and competitiveness because of unfair trade practices, in particular, infringement upon copyrights, trademarks, patents, and other intellectual property rights.

These infringements are not just a domestic problem.  The International Trade Commission estimates that American companies lose more than $60 billion a year because foreign companies do not always exercise adequate protection of intellectual property rights.  Much of the foreign merchandise that infringes upon American intellectual property rights eventually finds its way to the United States.

Because of its border control responsibilities, the U.S. Customs Service is uniquely positioned to prevent these illegal importations.  In order to protect American industry against unfair trade practices and foster a fair international trading environment, the Customs Service developed an initiative to stem the importation of merchandise that infringes upon protected intellectual properties.  New regulations and internal directives as well as established procedures are being used in this effort.  

This brochure describes the protection available from the U.S. Customs Service and how you can get it.

Federally registered trademarks, copyrights, and trade names may be recorded with Customs through the Intellectual Property Rights Branch of the Office of Regulations and Rulings. The recordation fee is $190.

  Applications to record a trademark, copyright, trade name, or to request a patent survey, should be in the form of a letter and should be addressed to:

U.S. Customs Service

1300 Pennsylvania Avenue, NW

Intellectual Property Rights Branch

Office of Regulations and Rulings

Washington, DC 20229

Tel: (202) 927-2330

Fax: (202) 927-1873

To be eligible for recordation with Customs, trademarks must first be registered with the Principal Register in the U.S. Patent and Trademark Office of the U.S. Department of Commerce, and copyrights with the U.S. Copyright Office of the Library of Congress.  The Customs Service normally takes three weeks to record registered trademarks and copyrights.

Trade names, which cannot be registered at the Patent and Trademark Office, take longer to be recorded with Customs. This is because a notice of tentative recordation must first be published in the Federal Register and in the Customs Bulletin, after which interested parties have the opportunity to oppose the recordation.  Notice of final approval or disapproval is published after all claims, rebuttals, and relevant evidence bearing on the recordation have been considered.  Once a trademark, trade name, or copyright has been recorded, Customs has the authority to deny entry to or seize goods that infringe upon the recorded right.

Customs does not provide application forms to effect recordation.  A letter containing the required information accomplishes this procedure.  This brochure describes the information required by regulation, and it also provides additional information that will prevent delays in recording your intellectual property while still allowing for effective border protection.

 Novel, useful, obscure or complex inventions are protected under United States patent laws.  The U.S. Patent and Trademark Office, which is part of the Department of Commerce, registers patents. 

The Customs Service’s authority to help patent owners protect their rights is limited by law.  Customs does enforce exclusion orders issued by the International Trade Commission under Section 337 of the Tariff Act of 1930.  Exclusion orders are issued where the Commission determines that Section 337 has been violated through unlawful, unfair methods of competition or unfair acts involving the importation of goods.  Customs enforces ITC exclusion orders in accordance with their specific terms.  These terms can direct Customs to deny entry to all future importations of goods that the ITC has found to infringe upon the patent holder’s rights, or to all goods determined by Customs to incorporate specific claims of the patent(s) at issue.  The procedures for implementing these orders are found in Section 12.39 of the Customs Regulations.

An amendment to the Tariff Act, Section 337(i), gives the ITC authority to issue seizure-and-forfeiture orders when an importer has previously attempted to import specific goods that violate an exclusion order.  Once the Customs Service receives a seizure-and-forfeiture order from the ITC, the goods would be subject to seizure.

How to obtain surveys of infringing importers
In the absence of an ITC order directing exclusion or seizure and forfeiture, Customs can still help private parties suffering from patent infringement.  Under Section 12.39a of the Customs Regulations, a patent owner can request a survey that will provide him or her with the name and address of an importer of merchandise that appears to infringe upon a registered patent.  With the information in this survey, the patent owner can take appropriate private action against the infringer(s).

The fee for a patent survey is $1,000 for two months, $1,500 for four months, and $2,000 for six months.
How to apply for Patent Surveys

Letters to apply for patent surveys should include the following 16 items of information in order to satisfy Section 12.39a of the Customs Regulations and to help Customs provide a more effective response:

1.  Name and address of the patent owner.

2.  A certified copy of the patent issued by the U.S. Patent and Trademark Office showing the applicant as owner, and three photocopies of the certified copy.

3.  Whether you are applying for a two-, four-, or six-month survey.


4.  A list of all merchandise believed to infringe upon the patent, and where and by whom the potentially infringing merchandise is believed to be manufactured.

5.  Appropriate Harmonized Tariff System classification number, or what you think this number may be.  Any HTS number that Customs determines to be appropriate for this purpose is not a binding tariff classification of the merchandise.  It will only be used in this limited manner to help Customs officers conduct the survey.

6.  HTS number under which the legitimate, non-infringing merchandise is being exported or imported by or for the applicant.

7.  Name of the final product.

8.  For surveys of a chemically-based patent, the Chemical Abstracts Service Registry number.

9.  The names, trade names where applicable, and, for chemically-based patents, the proprietary and chemical names used for the product.


10.  For chemically-based patents where the chemical is an active ingredient, identify the final products in which the chemical can be found.

11.  A sample of the product and a chemical analysis where applicable.

12.  Manner in which the product is used.

13.  Name and telephone number of a technical specialist who can be contacted for further inquiries.


14.  A check or money order, payable to “U.S. Customs Service,” for the appropriate amount ($1,000 for two months, $1,500 for four months, or $2,000 for six months).

15.  Of the information you provide in the application letter, specify which of it, if any, is confidential or privileged.

16.  Make sure to sign the original application letter.

How to record trademarks
Applications to record trademarks should also be in letter form.  The letter should include the following information, which will generally satisfy the requirements of Part 133 of the Customs Regulations.  This information is necessary to provide adequate, effective border enforcement of U.S. trademark rights, including, for some trademarks, protection against so-called “parallel” imports or “gray-market” goods.  Parallel imports or gray-market goods -- the terms are interchangeable -- are foreign manufactured genuine goods intended for distribution in markets other than the United States.

A separate letter of application is not required for each trademark; however, the following information must be accurate for all trademarks included in the letter.  Also, you must calculate fees per class of goods for each trademark.

1.  Enclose a status copy of the certificate of registration (Principal Register), certified by the U.S. Patent and Trademark Office, which shows that the title is currently in the applicant’s name.  Include five photocopies of the status copy. 

2.  Provide the name and complete business address of each trademark owner.  Also, include the citizenship of each living trademark owner.

3.  Include the state(s), country(ies), or other political jurisdiction(s) in which each association or corporation listed as a trademark owner was organized, incorporated, or created. 

4.  Provide the identity of each parent or subsidiary company or other foreign company under common ownership or control that uses or owns the trademark abroad.  For the purposes of recordation, Customs defines “common ownership or control” as either individual or joint ownership of more than 50 percent of the business entity or effective control in policy and operations even without a lack of common ownership.  Please indicate which of these two definitions you are using. 

5.  Provide the name and principal business address of each foreign person or business entity that the applicant has authorized or licensed to use the trademark, along with a statement of what uses have been authorized or licensed.

6.  Provide the name(s) and principal business address(es) if not identified earlier in the letter, of manufacturer(s) of goods bearing the trademark, where this manufacturing is done with the applicant’s consent.

7.  For each manufacturer identified in item number five above, describe the manner by which the applicant consented to the trademark’s use, e.g., by contract, corporate affiliation, or by some other arrangement.

8.  Identify the places, including principal business addresses, where goods bearing the trademark are legally manufactured without the applicant’s consent -- i.e., places where other parties are authorized to use the mark by concurrent use, or countries in which another party owns the trademark.  Also, provide the name of each foreign person or business that owns or uses the trademark abroad in this manner. 

9.  Enclose a check or money order for $190, made payable to “U.S. Customs Service,” for each class of goods first stated on each certificate of registration for which the applicant wishes to record the trademark.

10.  Identify what information, if any, you are claiming as confidential or privileged.

11.  Make sure to sign the original application letter.

How to obtain Lever-Rule protection

In light of the decision in Lever Bros. Co. v. United States (981 F.2d 1330 [D.C. Cir 1993]), the Customs Regulations were amended in 1999 as follows:  The owner of a recorded trademark that would not otherwise be entitled to gray-market protection, due to foreign ownership or common ownership or control, may apply to Customs to restrict the importation of genuine goods that are materially and physically different from those authorized for entry into the United States.  


A request for Lever-Rule protection must be in writing.  It must set out the precise nature of the physical and material differences that form the basis for the request.  Physical and material differences include, but are not limited to:  the specific composition of the products, product construction or structure, performance or operational characteristics, differences resulting from legal or regulatory requirements, or other distinguishing and explicitly defined factors that may cause consumer confusion.  Where Lever-Rule protection has been granted to a trademark or a specific article, such article may be imported if the product or its packaging bears a conspicuous and legible label that states:  “This product is not a product authorized by the United States trademark owner for importation and is physically and materially different from the authorized product.”

Exemption for articles of personal use

There is an exemption that allows United States residents traveling abroad to bring back trademarked or even counterfeit merchandise for personal use. Any person reentering the United States may bring back items bearing trademarks that would otherwise be restricted from entry, i.e., those bearing counterfeit marks or restricted gray-market goods.  (Not all trademarks are entitled to gray-market protection.)  This exemption allows each person to bring in one item of each type, for example, one handbag, one scarf, one camera.  The personal-use exemption can be used once every 30 days.  Items brought in under this exemption must be for personal use (i.e., for use by the person bringing it or as a gift) and cannot be sold within one year of entry. 

For more information about the personal-use exemption, see 19 U.S.C. 1526(d)(1) and 19 C.F.R. 148.55.

How to record trade names

Application letters to record trade names should include the following information in order to satisfy the requirements of Part 133 of the Customs Regulations.  The recordation fee is $190.  Applications with complete information will help promote effective border enforcement of trade names.

1.  The trade name to be recorded.

2.  Whether the trade name has been used for at least six months.

3.  If the trade name to be recorded is other than a complete business name, provide convincing proof to establish that only part of the complete name is customarily used.

4.  The name, complete business address, and citizenship of the trade name owner(s).

5.  For partnerships, each partner’s citizenship.  For associations and corporations, the state(s), country (ies), or other political jurisdiction(s) in which the associations or corporations were organized, incorporated, or created. 

6.  A description of the merchandise associated with the trade name.

7.  Identify what information, if any, you are claiming as confidential or privileged.

8.  Make sure to sign the original application letter.

9.  A check or money order for $190, made payable to “U.S. Customs Service,” for each trade name to be recorded.

How to record copyrights

Application letters to record copyrights should include the following information in order to satisfy the requirements of Part 133 of the Customs Regulations.  Applications containing this information will help promote effective border enforcement of copyrights.

1.  The name(s) and complete business address(es) of the copyright owner(s).

2.  Name of the country(ies) in which genuine copies of the protected work or sound recordings are manufactured.

3.  A statement describing the circumstances of any actual or potential injury that has occurred or will occur as a result of the actual or contemplated importation of the sound recordings or other protected work identified in item number two.

4.  The name of each parent or subsidiary company or other related foreign company that manufactures abroad genuine copies of the protected work, and the foreign title of the work if different from the United States title.

5.  The name and principal business address of each foreign person or business entity which the applicant has authorized or licensed to manufacture abroad genuine copies of the protected work.  Include the foreign title of the work if it is different from the United States title. 

6.  The names and principal business addresses of people or companies not previously identified in your application who manufacture genuine copies of the protected work, where this manufacturing is done with the applicant’s consent.

7.  For each manufacturer listed above in item number six, the manner in which the applicant consented to the manufacture --for example, by contract, by corporate affiliation, or by some other arrangement (in this case, please identify).

8.  The place(s), including the principal business address(es), where genuine copies of the protected work are legally manufactured without the applicant’s consent -- for example, countries in which another party also owns a copyright in the work.  Provide the name of each foreign person or business entity engaged in such manufacturing abroad, as well as the foreign title of the work if it is different from the American title.

9.  For applications covering a copyright claim in a sound recording, provide the name(s) of the recording artist(s) and any other identifying names appearing on the sound recording itself or its label or container.

10.  If you are claiming rights under the Berne Convention for the Protection of Literary and Artistic Works (Paris Text, 1971) instead of by registration with the U.S. Copyright Office of the Library of Congress, provide a statement explaining how the Berne Convention applies.                           

11.  If you are not claiming rights under the Berne Convention, enclose an “additional certificate” of copyright registration that has been issued by the U.S. Copyright Office.  If the name of the applicant differs from the name of the copyright owner identified in the certificate, please include with the letter of application a certified copy of any assignment, exclusive license, or other document recorded in the U.S. Copyright Office which shows that the applicant has acquired ownership of the copyright.

12.  Five photographic or other likenesses of the copyright work.  You need not include a copy or photo to record a work that is readily identifiable by title and author, such as a book, magazine, periodical or similar copyright material, or for a sound recording, but be aware that copies of such works can be helpful in enforcement efforts.  Where appropriate, five likenesses of a component part of a copyright work, along with the name or title, if any, by which that part is identifiable, can accompany an application that covers an entire copyrighted work.

13.  A check or money order for $190, made payable to “U.S. Customs Service,” for each copyright to be recorded.

14.  Identify what information, if any, you are claiming as confidential or privileged.

15.  Be sure to sign your original application letter.

Additional information about Customs IPR protection is available from the applicable Customs Regulations (19 C.F.R. 133) or at the Customs web site:  www.customs.gov.

Cybersmuggling and IPR protection

In cyberspace, the realm in which the Internet exists, computer technology has allowed criminal elements to by-pass some Customs and other law-enforcement interventions.  Although much criminal activity conducted in cyberspace is beyond the reach of traditional law-enforcement techniques, computers have also provided law enforcement with the same tools they have offered the world of crime, and these can be used to interrupt these illegal activities.  

The CyberSmuggling Center of the U.S. Customs Service has identified use of the Internet to assist IPR infringement -- that is, illegal trafficking in counterfeit and copyright- and trademark-protected merchandise -- as one of the Customs Service’s major law-enforcement priorities.  The CyberSmuggling Center’s mission is to harness the resources of the Customs Service -- its investigative, intelligence, computer forensics, and interdiction capabilities -- to identify and apprehend the people, organizations, and modus operandi involved in cybersmuggling activities.

The CyberSmuggling Center can be reached on the web at

Cybersmuggling@customs.treas.gov or at the following address:

U.S. Customs Service CyberSmuggling Center

11320 Random Hills Road, Suite 400

Fairfax, Virginia 22030

1-800-BE-ALERT  (1-800-232-5378)

How to contact other agencies

For more information, contact:

U.S. Copyright Office

Library of Congress

Washington, DC 20559

(202) 707-3000

www.loc.gov/copyright
U.S. Patent and Trademark Office

Commissioner of Patents and Trademarks



Washington, DC 20231

(703) 308-4357

www.uspto.gov
U.S. International Trade Commission

Office of Trade Remedy Assistance



Washington, DC 20436

(202) 205-2000

www.usitc.gov

U.S. Customs Service

Intellectual Property Rights Branch

Washington, DC 20229

www.customs.gov
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